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Strategic report

The Directars, in preparing this strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.
Business review

The global management consulting industry was worth approximately $206 billion in 2021 having contracted by around 4% in 2020, as a
consequence of the pandemic. The industry bounced back with exceptionatty high growth fn 2021 with overall growth of 11% per annum
compared to a pre-crisis norm of around 7%. The forecast for 2022 is almost as strong at 10%. Projections to 2025 suggest the industry will
continue to grow ahead of pre-pandemic levels as structural changes which were apparent pre-pandemic have a growing impact.

From an industry perspective the core asset intensive market {energy, resources, utilities and manufacturing} accounts for a quarter of the global
consulting market. The energy, resources and utility's sub-sector has been especially slow to recover growing only 7% in 2021. The picture in
manufacturing is more positive with 12% growth going forward. Qur core sectors should grow in excess of 10% in 2022, slowing slightly in future
years. After the pandemic we have seen a sharp increase in consulting work as organisations start to re pian for a different future. We are seeing
significant growth in demand from private equity firms initially in strategy work but as projects come forward the operations consulting elements
are being activated. This is particularfy shown as a desire by clients to execute actual improvements in performance rather than spending time
in planning, hence operational consulting work will grow at a faster rate than other forms of consulting work.

The supply chain crisis created by the pandemic and the impact of the invasion by Russia of Ukraine have led many clients wanting to build
security Into their supply chains and resilience into their operations. High energy and mineral prices caused by a global squeeze in this area has
ted naturat resgurce companies to increase production to take advantage of these high prices. Proudfoot is well placed to provide services to
these resource companies to meet their production ambitions and we have already seen a significant growth in potential projects in this area.

After many years within Proudfoot, Pam Hackett has decided to leave the business and pursue her focus on publishing her next book. The Board
of MCG is very pleased to announce the appointment of Neil O'Brien as the new CEG for Proudfoot together with a new special advisor to the
board Joost van de Meent.

Neil brings a wealth of experience and knowledge to our business. He joins us from Accenture where he led their Energy, Chemicals and Natural
Resources business in the UK & Ireland, as well as leading a number of globa! accounts with operations in Europe, Africa, and North & South
America.

Nell has had significant success across a wide global client base by originating and delivering consulting work, building high perferming
collaborative teams ang establishing trusted client relationships.

Prior 1o Accenture, Neil was CEC of Chaucer Consulting, successfully leading a MBO followed by multi-year growth across 30+ clients in Europe
and North America.

Joost has been working with the Board already for a couple of months and we are delighted that he will join as special advisor to the Board.
Joost is a seasoned international leader who worked as Accenture’s lead for Resources industries in EALA {Europe, Africa, Middle East, and Latin
America) growing the business from USS 1.5bn to USS 2.5bn over a period of five years. Before that he was stationed in Japan and later in
Australia to lead Accenture’s Resources practice.

Prior to Accenture he started his own company {eFactory) and was a Managing Director in GE Capital. Currently, Joost also serves as the Chairman
for a non-governmental organisation called Max Foundation.

Joost will be joining with immediate effect and Neil after the summer when he will formally join the Board.

Following consideration, Proudfoot is changing its sales model to that of a mare traditional consulting business where business development
and delivery are overseen by the same individual. This more integrated approach will provide a better client service and also lead to a significantly
lower cost of business development as a large proportion will be covered by time charged to projects.

As the revenue levels grow and we win further projects the working capital requirements of the Group increase as our cost base flexes upwards
to deliver projects whilst payments from clients lag by approximately two months. The significant growth we are projecting requires further
funding in order to meet this demand, therefore the Group is raising approximately £2.1m by way of a new share issue to be approved at the
forthcoming AGM. Although Q1 2022 revenue was below expectations, Q2 revenue is tracking significantly higher with a current order book of
approximately £9m with further projects currently anticipated to be booked by the end of June.




Management Consulting Group PLC
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Registered number 01000608

As noted in last year’s accounts, the Company completed a successful share issue in February 2021, raising £4.5m.

Whikst the performance of the business in 2021 continues to be significantly affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, Group revenues did increase
by 22% to £17,372k {2020: £14,228k}, driven by the easings of lockdown restrictions in many part of the world where the business operates
coupled with businesses returning to work and the roll out of immunisation programmes. Gross margin increased to 51% (2020: 40%) and the
Group made an operating loss of £1,523k (2020: loss of £7,526k}, having benefitted from net non-underlying credit totalling £1.6m (2020: £0.7m
credit). The loss before tax from underlying operations was £3,150k {2020: £8,209k).

Non-underlying items comprise a £1.9m credit relating to forgiveness of US payment protection loans forgiven by the Small Business
Administration, £¢.3m of unutilised employee provision and a £0.2m credit in respect of recognition of a refund of withholding tax interest and
penalties from the Peruvian autherities, offset by non-underlying costs of £0.8m. These costs are primarily related to restructuring costs of
£0.6m and advisory costs of £0.1m in respect of the February 2021 capital raise.

The loss after tax for the year was £1,833k (2020: loss of £8,212k).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Demand

Changes in demand for the Group’s services can significantly impact revenues and profits. Alexander Proudfoot, the only aperating arm of the
Group, operates in several industry sectors, and demand for consulting work can be affected by global, regional, or national macro-economic
conditions and conditions within individual industry sectors. Proudfoot operates in a competitive environment, where other consulting firms
seek to provide similar services to our clients.

The Group seeks to moniter demand for its services, to anticipate changes in demand and competitive pressures where possible, and to develop
a strategy and offering to exploit cpportunities for growth in sectors where demand is increasing. The Group operates across a diverse range of
business sectors which provides some protection against adverse trends in individual sectors. The Group retains some flexibility in being able to
deploy staff to areas of higher demand to optimise utilisation.

People

The Group is dependent on the recruitment and retention of key personnel to develop and maintain relationships with clients and to deliver
high quality services. Any failure to attract and retain such personnel which results in their unforeseen departure from the business may have
detrimental consequences on the Group's financial performance.

The Group seeks ta develop remuneration policies and structures that reward good performance and premote continued employment with the
Group consistent with prevailing market levels of remuneration.

intellectual Property

The intellectual capital of Alexander Proudfoot, the sole trading arm of the Group, inctuding its methodologies and its track record of successful
sale and delivery of assignments to clients is a key asset. This must be maintainec, continually developed and protected, so that its offerings
remain distinctive and attractive to clients. it is possible that employees who exit the business may appropriate this intellectual capital for use
by themselves or Alexander Proudfoot’s competitors.

The Group protects its intellectual property through appropriate contractual arrangements with employees and others, and through legal action
where necessary.

Pandemic

For Proudfoot to deliver its services, the consulting workforce needs to travel to its clients’ premises, which has been severely restricted during
the Pandemic. Whilst the easing of restrictions during 2021 has enabled face to face consulting to recommence, the business is still susceptible
to short term business interruption if clients suffer Covid cutbreaks and have to temporarily close their places of work. However, to mitigate this
interruption, wherever possible the Business can now adapt its working practices to deliver its services to clients remotely.

Events after the balance sheet date

Taking into account the difficult trading conditions imposed by COVID-19, the Board has now resolved to issue a new class of shares in the
Company of 0.06 pence each (the "New B Prefs"). Therefore with the publication of these accounts the Company has announced a fully
underwritten offer £2.1m of new equity by way New B Prefs. The Company has received over 75% of irrevocable votes in favour of this issue and
hence the Company can place a strong level of reliance that this fund raising will be successful.
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Cutlook
Once the company has received the new equity funding and the improvement in demand for its services the Board has a positive view for 2022

with a further increase in revenues and a return ta profitahility in due course.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

=z 2

o
NS Stagg St Paul's House
Chairman 4t Floor
10 Warwick Lane

London

6™ June 2022 EC4M 7BP
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Directors report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Company, together with the audited financial statements and auditor’s report
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

General information
Management Consulting Group PLC {“the Company”} is a public Company and the Group's ultimate parent Company and is incorporated and
domiciled in England under the Companies Act 2006.

Principal activity
The Group’s principal activity during the year was the provision of management consultancy services.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and pasition, are set out in the
Strategic Report. The Group prepares regular business forecasts which are reviewed by the Board. Forecasts are adjusted for sensitivities, which
address the principal risks to which the Group is exposed, and consideration is given to actions open to management to mitigate the impact of
these sensitivities.

The assessment period for the purposes of considering going concern is the 12 months to 30t June 2023,

In assessing sensitivities, the Board took into account the previous slower than expected pace of change at Proudfoot and the disappointing
results in past periods. The Board has, in particular, considered risks related to revenue and looked at assumptions bath consistent with the
recent past and the long-term changes in revenue. Forward locking forecasts reflect the change of sales model to that of a more traditional
consulting business where business development and delivery are overseen by the same individual, which in time should see reductions in costs
in business development. These forecasts also include the costs of the new CEQ joining after the summer and the speciat advisor to the Board
who joined the Group post year end, and an increase in the current pipeline of potential projects.

The impact of the pandemic over the {ast two vears has had a significant impact on liquidity within the Group. Changes in the business to adapt
to the current post pandemic consulting market and changes internally to the business’s selling strategy and management require investment
and to this end the Board have resolved to issue a new ¢lass of share in the Company. The class of shares will be non-redeemable preference
shares and are fully underwritten hy existing shareholders to the value of £2.1m. As at the date of this report the Company has received over
75% of irrevocable votes in favour of this issue and hence the Company ¢an place a strong level of reliance that this fund raising will be successful.
This will provide the additional liquidity the Group needs for working capital as the business returns to a more normal level of activity.

Prior to taunching this offer the Company's management team has explored alternative methods of funding the Group such as issuing further
ordinary shares or using traditional debt. These alternative options have proved unavailable or inadequate and therefore the Board considers
the Offer to be necessary if the business is to continue throughout 2022 as a going concern.

The Group continues to manage the liabilities related to the dispesals made in 2015 and 2016. Exposure to the Wavestone liabilities is now
minimal, following the release of a significant amount {£0.5m} of cash from escrow following a successful outcome of the penultimate Wavestone
litigation case outstanding. In light of a change of investment options in respect of the legacy Kurt Salmon UK Pension scheme, £0.3m of the
cash held by aletter of credit has been released in March 2022 and management expect a simiiar amount te be released into available cash over
the period of this review.

The Directors have prepared a number of scenarios and management has produced a working capital modet taking into account the change of
sales madel, leadership and the impact of £2.1m of newly issued equity. This model reflects a modest increase in revenues for 2022 and factors
in growth in revenues in 2023 returning to pre-pandemic levels which will see the Group returning to profit during 2023 with a substantially
reduced cost base.

To assess the Group's ability to operate as a going concern, the Directors have also prepared a sensitised working capital model, which reduces
anticipated 2022 revenues by 15%. The 15% reduction continues for the going concern assessment pericd to 30% June 2023, Certain mitigating
actions have been used to adjust this forecast; variable pay will remain frozen, investment in sales support will be scaled back and cost of sales
will reduce as an element of this, such as travel expenses and use of contractors is directly linked to revenue generation. Combined with the
reductions in base operating costs over the past two years, this shows that the business can maintain liguidity for the periad of assessment of
going concern under such tough trading conditions.

The Board has concluded that its forecasts, even on a worst case basis, indicate that the Group has adequate resources to be able to operate
for the foreseeable future, given the forecast average liquidity reserves of £1.5m and a minimum balance over the assessment period
of £0.6m, after taking into account the fundraise of £2.1m which is being approved at this years AGM. The Company has received
letters representing aver 75% of the voting equity giving an undertaking to vote in favour of the fundraise of and the issue is fully
underwritten and therefore the Board can place a strang reliance on the receipt of these funds. For this reason, the going concern basis has
been adopted in preparing these financial statements.
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Dividend
The Directors are not proposing a dividend and there were none declared during 2021,

Future Developments and Events after the Balance Sheet Date have been considered within the Strategic Report on page 3.

Employees
The Group employs its people in multiple gecgraphies. Employment practices meet legal requirements in each country.

It is Group policy that all people be treated with dignity and respect. The Groug is committed to providing and fostering a working environment
that is free from harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying.

A high-performing arganisation depends on the inclusion of people who come from diverse backgrounds. It is the Group’s policy to ensure equal
oppoertunities exist without discrimination for all employees, irrespective of their race, colour, creed, religion, gender, ancestry, citizenship,
sexual preference, marital status, national origin, age, pregnancy, or any other reason prahibited by the law in the United Kingdom. This applies
with respect to recruitment, promotion, remuneraticn, transfer, retention, training, and other employment actions. Wherever passible, the
employment of members of staff who become disabled will be continued and appropriate training and career development will be offered.

Employees have a written job description and are appraised by their manager quarterly or semi-annually using a formal process, The Group is
committed to providing support to help realise the full potential of all its employees, whilst recognising that the ultimate responsibility for
personal development must rest with the individual, There are executive and management development programmes for the leaders and future
leaders of the business, training programmes for client facing staff and an induction programme for all staff. Employee engagement and
communication is a high priority for a geographically diverse workforce. The entire company is invited to an afl-hands video call on a weekly
basis where they can interact with the management team. The management team uses the Proudfoot 1:5:30 principle te ensure they have
meaningful engagement with their direct reports on a regular basis.

Financial risk management

The Group does not use derivatives to manage its financial risks. The most important components of financial risk are interest rate risk, currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow risk and price risk. Due to the nature of the Group’s business and the assets and liabilities contained
within the Group’s balance sheet, the only financial risk the Directors consider relevant to the Group is credit risk. This risk is mitigated by the
Group’s credit controi policies.

The Group has operating and financial policies and procedures designed to maximise value within a defined risk management framework. The
key risks to which the Group is exposed are reviewed regularly by senior management and the Board.

The major risks the Group faces are related 1o the demand for consultancy services; maintaining and extending our client base; attracting and
retaining talented employees; and not using our intellectual capital to full advantage. These risks are managed by anticipating consultancy
trends; identifying new sectars which the Group might operate; maximising staff utilisation; having remuneration policies which reward
performance and promote continued employment with the Group; and maintaining a comprehensive knowledge management system,

Potential contractual liabilities arising from client engagements are managed through careful control of contractual conditions and appropriate
insurance arrangements. There is no material outstanding litigation against the Group, of which the Directors are aware, which is not covered
by insurance, or provided for in the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors who held office throughout the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Mr N S Stagg

Ms P Hackett

Mr M Capello

Ms F Czerniawska
Mr E Di Spiezio Sardo

Auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that;

* 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and
. the director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

F

NS Stagg St Paul's House
Chairman 4t Ficor
10 warwick Lane

London

6% June 2622 EC4M 7BP
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare
the group and company financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards. Under company law the
directars must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the greup
and company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.

in preparing these financial staterments, the directors are required to:

®  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

[ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

*  preparethe financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Management Consulting
Group PLC

Opinion on the financial statements

In pur opinion:
»  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December
2021 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;
> the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;
. the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standiards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
«  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Management Consulting Group Plc (the ‘Parent Company') and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the
year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Group Income Statement, Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group and Com pany
Statement of Changes in Equity, Group and Company Balance Sheet, Group and Company Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and UK adopted intarnational accounting standards and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {ISAs {UK) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfitled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directars’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability te continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our respansibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.
Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report other
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Qur responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially incansistent with the financial statements
or our knowladge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materialty misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a materiat misstatement in the financial statements
themselves. if, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a materiai misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

s the Strategic report and the Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
have not idertified material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ repart.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 reguires us to report to you if, in our
opinion:

#» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Caompany, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

+ the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recards and returns; or

#  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

=  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directars are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uinless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstaterments
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the sudit was capable of detecting frregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with faws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent te which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

The objectives of our audit, in respect to fraud, are; to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to
fraud; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud, through designing and
implementing appropriate respaonses; and to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit. However, the primary
responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.

Our approach was as follows:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to Management Consulting Group PLC. We determined
that the most significant laws and regulations which are directly refevant to specific assertions in the financial statements are those related to
the reporting framework (IFRS and the Companies Act 2006), regulations impacting tabour regulations and taxation in the United Kingdom and
overseas jurisdictions where subsidiaries trade {North America, Europe, Africa and Asia).

*  We understood how the Group and Company is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making enquiries of
management and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our enquiries through obtaining direct
confirmations from the company’s lawyers to corroborate the status of material legal claims. Cur review of board minutes and legal
expenses accounts were performed to ensure no other material legal matters were detected thraugh our audit procedures,
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s We assessed the impact of and discussed material ongoing and closed tax investigations with management. With the assistance of our
taxation specialists, we corroborated managements judgements made in respect of the tax liabilities recorded and their compliance
with tax legislation.

= We assessed the susceptibility of the Group and Company’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might
occur by meeting with management to understand where it is considered there was a susceptibility of fraud. We also considered
potential fraud drivers: including financial or other pressures, opportunity, and personal or corporate motivations. We considered the
programmes and controls that the Group and company has established to address risks identified, or that otherwise prevent, deter
and detect fraud; and how senior management monitors these programmes and controls. Where the risk was considered higher, we
performed audit procedures to address each identified fraud risk. These procedures included testing manual journals, testing
compliance with government support schemes utilised during the period and key areas of estimation uncertainty or judgement. These
include the bonus accruals recognised for management, estimates of the provision in place for claims for alleged negligence, key
assumptions used in the calculation of the pension liability and estimations of accrued income relating to work performed in the year
and estimation of the recoverable balance of investments.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed
and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulatians is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financiat Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone

other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed. DocuSigned by:

Tim Neatherqpatdispige atatutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

Date 06 June 2022

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 0C305127).
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2021 2020
Notes £'000 £7000

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 17,372 14,228
Cost of sales (8,541} (8,600)
Gross profit 8,831 5,628
Total administrative expenses 4 (10,354) (13,154)
Administrative expenses — non-underlying other 4a (779) {690)
Adminijstrative expenses — non-underlying credit 4a 2,406 1,373
Loss fram operations — underlying* {3,150) (8,209}
Loss from operations 4 (1,523) {7,526)
Investment revenues 6a 9 22
Finance costs [s] {593} (779)
Loss before tax 4 (2,107} (8,283)
Tax 7 274 71
Loss for the year (1,833) (8,212)

*operating loss befare non-underlying costs and credits, refer to definition on page 22.
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2021 2020
Notes £°000 £'000
Loss for the year {1,833) {8,212)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Actuarial gains on defined benefit post-retirement obligations 15 1,269 38t
1,269 381
Items that may be reclassified subsequentiy to profit and foss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operatiens 326 (50}
326 (50}
Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to owners of the Company {238) {7,881}
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Shares
Share held by Capital
Share Share compensati employee Translatio redempti Accumulat
Capital  premium on benefit n on ed Total
Note £'000 £'000 resarve trust reserve  reserve Deficit £'000
£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000

Balance as at 1 January 2020 15,165 8,023 223 {129) 2,187 1,186 {30,976) (4,321)
Comprehensive expense for the period
Loss for the period (8,212) (8,212)
Other comprehensive {expense)/ income {50} 381 331
Total comprehensive expense for the period [50} (7,831) (7,881)
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Shares transferred to ESOP (197) 28 169 -
Total transactions with owners (197) 28 169 -

{12,202
Balance at 31 December 2020 15,165 8,023 26 {101) 2,137 1,186 {38,638) )
Comprehensive expense for the period
Loss for the peried (1,833} (1,833)
QOther comprehensive income 326 1,269 1,595
Total comprehensive income/{expense} for
the period 326 {564) (238}
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares 17 4,475 4,475
Total transactions with owners 4,475 4,475
Balance at 31 December 2021 19,640 8,023 26 (101) 2,463 1,186 (39,202) (7,965)
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Group balance sheet

as at 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Notes £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Intangibie assets and goodwill - 3
Property, plant and eguipment 9 38 76
Right-of-use assets 10 532 841
Deferred tax asset 14 27 -
Tolal non-current assets 597 920
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 12 4,527 3,692
Current tax receivables 14 166 435
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,942 4,354
Total current assets 9,635 8,481
Total assets 10,232 9,401
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 {7,712) {6,790)
Lease liabilities 10 (223) (362)
Current tax liabilities 14 (425} {1,100)
Total current liabilities (8,360) (8,252)
Net current assets 1,275 229
Nen-current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations 15 {8,336} (9,612}
Bank borrowings - (1,186)
Lease liabilities 10 {433} (653)
Long-term provisions 16 {1,068} {1,900)
Total non-current liabilities {9,837) (13,351)
Totatl liabilities (18,197) (21,603}
Net liabilities {7,965} {12,202)
Equity
Share capital 17 19,640 15,165
Share premium account 8,023 8,023
Share compensation reserve 26 26
Shares held by employee benefit trusts 18 {101) (101)
Translation reserve 18 2,463 2,137
Capital redemption reserve 1,186 1,186
Accumulated deficit (39,202) {38,638)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company (7,965) {12,202)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 6™ june 2022, They were signed on its behalf by:

o

Nick Stagg
Director
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Group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Group

2021 2020

£000 £'000
Operating loss from continuing operations (1,523) {7,526)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset 355 377
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 13
Forgiveness of covid relief (PPF loan] (1,163) -
Decrease in provisions (832) (1,629)
Contribution to US defined benefit pension scheme (560) -
Adjustments for foreign exchange (330) {325)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital {4,050) 19,090)
{Increase)/decrease in receivables (835) 1,774
Increase/(decrease) in payables 923 (277)
Cash used by operations {3,962) [7,593)
Income taxes paid (151) (449)
Interest paid - 9)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (4,113) (8,051}
Investing activities
Interest received 16 10
Rental income received - 410
Purchase of praperty, plant and equipment (5) (13)
Movement in restricted cash 488 2,309
Net cash generated from investing activities 499 2,716
Financing activities
Lease payments (412) (776)
Proceeds of issue of new shares 4,408 -
Government Covid loan 788 1,261
Net cash generated from financing activities 4,784 485
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,170 (4,850)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,515 7,672
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash (69) (307)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3,616 2,515

Included within the 31 December 2021 cash balance of £4.9m (2020; £4.4m) is £1.3m {2020: £1.8m) of cash which is not available for use by the
Group. This represents cash held in restricted bank accounts which is reguired to be retained te support indemnity obligations te Wavestone,
the acquirer of the French and related operations of Kurt Saimon and in support of the Kurt Salmon UK Pension scheme, which remained a Group
obligation following the sale of the Kurt Salmon retail and consumer goods operations.
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 Decembrer 2021

2021 2020

Note £'000 £°000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 12 28
Investments Il 2,000 2,000
Total non-current assets 2,012 2,028
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 12 9,031 5,171
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 13 1,956 2,166
Total current assets 10,987 7,337
Total assets 12,999 9,365
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables 13 (565) (714}
Total current liabilities (S65) (714}
Net current assets 10,422 6,623
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations 15 - {15}
Long-term provisions 16 (809) {911}
Total non-current liabilities (809) (926}
Total liabilities (1,374) (1,640}
Net assets 11,625 7,725
Equity
Share capital 17 19,640 15,165
Share premium account 8,023 8,023
Share compensation reserve 26 26
Shares held by employee benefit trusts {101) {101)
Capital redemption reserve 1,186 1,186
Accumulated deficit (17,249) (16,574)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 11,625 7,725

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement. The mavement in the Group
income statement for the financial year includes a loss of £0.6m (2020: £0.7m) dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

The financial statements were appraoved by the Board of Directors and autharised for issue on 6% June 2022. They were signed en its behalf by:

F

Nick Stagg  Company number
Director 01000608



Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2021

Management Consulting Group PLC

Annuai report and financial statements for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2621

Registered number 01000608

Share
compensati  Shares Capital

Share on held by redemptic Accumulate
capital reserve ESOP nreserve d Total
Note £'000 fund £'000 £'000 deficit  £000
£060 £'000

Balance at 1 January 2020 15,155 223 {129) 1,186 {15,880) 8,588
Comprehensive expense for the period
Loss for the period (729) {729)
Other comprehensive expense (134) (134)
Total comprehensive expense for the period (863)  (863)
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Share transferred ta ESOP
Share awards lapsed {197) 28 169 -
Total transaction with owners {197) 28 169 -
Balances as at 31 December 2020 15,165 26 (161) 1,186 (16,574) 7,725
Comprehensive expense for the period
Loss for the period (591} (591)
Other comprehensive income i6 16
Total comprehensive expense far the period (575}  {575)
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares 25 4,475 4,475
Total transactions with owners 4,475 4,475
Balance at 31 December 2021 19,640 26 {101} 1,186 {17,149} 11,625
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Company

2021 2020

£000 £'000
Operating loss from continuing operations (591) {729)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 17
Decrease in provisions (102) {1,540}
Non-cash Intereompany deht forgiveness {25) 166
Ravaluation of restricted cash 24 {152}
Unrealised foreign exchange loss {12} 25
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital {689) (2,213)
{Increase}/decrease in receivables {75) 22
Decrease in payables {114) {133)
Cash used by cperationg (878) (2,324)
Income taxes paid - -
Interest paid - -
Net cash outflow from gperating activities (878) (2,324)
Investing activities
Interest received - &
Movement in restricted cash 438 2,309
Cash advances to subsidiaries {3,793) (530}
Net cash {used in) /generated from investing activities {(3,305) 1,785
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuing of new shares 4,475 -
Net cash generated from financing activities 4,475 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 292 (539}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 327 923
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1n {57)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 630 327

Included within the 31 December 2021 cash balance of £2.0m (2020: £2.2m) is £1.3m {2020: £1.8m) of cash which is not available far use by the
Group. This represents cash held in restricted bank accounts which is required to be retained o support indemnity obligations to Wavestone,
the acquirer of the French and related operations of Kurt Salmon and in suppart of the Kurt Salmon UK Pension scheme, which remained a Group
obligation following the sale of the Kurt Salmon retail and consumer goads operations.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. General information

Management Consulting Greup PLC {the "Company”) is a public company and the Group’s ultimate parent company and is incorporated and
domiciled in England under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on the inside back cover. The nature of the
Group's operations and its principal activities are set out in note 3 and in the Strategic Repaort.

2. Significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in the current and preceding year in dealing with items which are considered
material in relation ta the financial statements.

{o} Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Management Consulting Group PLC and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS“). The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with UK adopted
international accounting standards.

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. As permitted by that Act, the Company
has elected not to present its own income statement. Its separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with {FRS.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. The principal
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the parent company’s financial statements are the same as thase adopted in the consolidated
financial statements except that the parent company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for
impairment.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position, are set cut in the
Strategic Report. The Group prepares regular business forecasts which are reviewed by the Board. Forecasts are adjusted for sensitivities, which
address the principal risks to which the Group is exposed, and consideration is given to actions open to management to mitigate the impact of
these sensitivities.

The assessment period for the purposes of considering going concern is the 12 menths to 30t June 2023.

In assessing sensitivities, the Board took into account the previous slower than expected pace of change at Proudfoot and the disappointing
results in past periods. The Board has, in particular, considered risks related to revenue and looked at assumptions both consistent with the
recent past and the long-term changes in revenue. Forward looking forecasts reflect the change of sales model te that of a more traditionat
consuiting business where business development and delivery are overseen by the same individual, which in time should see reductions in costs
in business development. These forecasts also include the costs of the new CEO joining after the summer and the special advisor to the Board
who joined the Group post year end, and an increase in the current pipeline of potential projects.

The impact of the pandemic over the last two years has had a significant impact on liquidity within the Group. Changes in the business to adapt
to the current post pandemic consulting market and changes internzlly to the business’s selling strategy and management reguire investment
and to this end the Board have resolved to issue a new class of share in the Company. The class of shares will be non-redeemable preference
shares and are fully underwritten by existing sharehalders to the value of £2,1m. As at the date of this report the Company has received over
75% of irrevocable votes in favour of this issue and hence the Company can place a strong level of reliance that this fund raising will be successful.
This will provide the additional liguidity the Group needs for working capital as the business returns 1o a more normal level of activity.

Prior te launching this offer the Company's management team has explored alternative methods of funding the Group such as issuing further
ordinary shares or using traditional debt, These alternative options have proved unavailable or inadequate and therefore the Board considers
the Offer to be necessary if the business is to continue throughout 2022 as a going concern.

The Group continues to manage the liabilities related 1o the disposals made in 2015 and 2016. Exposure to the Wavestone liabilities is now
minimal, following the release of a significant amount (£0.5m) of cash from escrow following a successful cutcome of the penultimate Wavestone
litigation case outstanding. in light of a change of investment options in respect of the legacy Kurt Salmon UK Pension scheme, £0.3m of the
cash held by a letter of credit has been released in March 2022 and managemant expect a similar amount to be released into available cash over
the period of this review.

The Directors have prepared a number of scenarios and management has produced a working capital model taking into account the change of
sales model, leadership and the impact of £2.1m of newly issued equity. This model reflects a modest increase in revenues for 2022 and factors
in growth in revenues in 2023 returning to pre-pandemic levels which will see the Group returning to profit during 2023 with a substantially
reduced cost base.
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To assess the Group's ability to operate as a going concern, the Directors have also prepared a sensitised working capital model, which reduces
anticipated 2022 revenues by 15%. The 15% reduction continues for the going concern assessment period to 30t June 2023. Certain mitigating
actions have been used to adjust this forecast; variable pay will remain frozen, investment in sales support will be scaled back and cost of sales
will reduce as an element of this, such as travel expenses and use of cantractors is directly linked to revenue generation. Combined with the
reductions in base operating costs over the past two years, this shows that the business can maintain liquidity for the period of assessment of
going cancern under such tough trading conditions.

The Board has concluded that its forecasts, even on a worst case basis, indicate that the Group has adequate resources to be able to operate
for the foreseeable future, given the forecast average liquidity reserves of £1.5m and a minimum balance over the assessment period of
£0.6m, after taking into account the fundraise of £2.1m which is being approved at this years AGM. The Company has received letters
representing over 75% of the voting equity giving an undertaking to vote in favour of the fundraise of and the issue is fully underwritten and
therefare the Board can place a strong reliance on the receipt of these funds. For this reascon, the going concern basis has been adopted in
preparing these financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised stondards
The following revisions to standards effective for periods commencing on 1 January 2021 and therefore applicable to the Group’s financial
staterments for the current year are listed below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: definition of a business

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ and IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies changes in accounting estimates and errors’ ;
Definition of material

Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39 and IFRS 17: Interest rate benchmark reform

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framewaork in IFRS Standards

Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases Covid-19 Related rent Concessions.

All revised standards have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in this period or in future periods.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied new and revised IFRS standards that have been issued
but not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 3 'Business Combinations': Reference to the Conceptual Framework - effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022;

Amendments to IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Centingent Assets’: Onerous contracts - effective for periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022;

2018-2021 annyal improvements cycle: Amendments to four International Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as a result of the IASB's annual
improvements project - effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022;

Amendments to IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment': Proceeds before intended use - effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022;

Amendments to 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’: Amendments on classification - effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

Amendments to 1AS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates — effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Amendments to JAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The discussion and analysis of the Group’s financial position and results are based on the consolidated financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The preparation of the financial statements requires the development of estimates and judgements that affect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenues and costs and related disclosure of contingent assets and fiabilities at the date of the
financial statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Criticof accounting judgements

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are refiective of significant judgements and uncertainties and potentially result in materially
different results under different assumptions and conditions. The Board considers that the Group’s critical accounting policies are limited to those
described below. The Group's management has discussed the development of the judgements and disclosures related to each of these matters
with the Audit and Risk Committee.

Norni-underlying items and alternative performance measures

The Group applies judgement in identifying the significant non-underlying items of income and expense that are recognised as non- underlying to
help provide an indication of the Groups adjusted business performance. The Group exercises judgement in assessing whether items should be
classified as non-underlying. This assessment covers the nature of the item and the material impact of that item on reported performance.
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Afternative performance measures

The Group has adopted a number of alternative performance measures to provide additional infermation to understand underlying trends and
the performance of the Group. These alternative performance measures are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparabtle
to other companies’ alternative performance measures. The definition of alternative performance measures are described below:

Adfusted profit/loss from operotions

The Group’s operating results are split between adjusted and non-underlying to better understand the performance of the group withaut
distortion by items of income and expense that are non-underlying in nature. The definitien of non-underlying is referred to below, Adjusted
profit/loss is used by management internglly to evaluate performance and to establish and measure strategic goals. Adjusted profit/loss is arrived
at by removing non-underlying items from operating profit/loss as seen on the face of the income statement reconciled to gross and operating
profit. Adjusted loss per share is reconciled to loss per share by removing non-underlying items from operating profit/loss.

Non-underlying

Non-underlying items are those significant charges or credits which, in the opinion of the directors, should be disclosed separately by virtue of
their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group's financial performance. Transactions that may give sise te non-underlying items
include charges for impairment, restructuring costs, employee severance, acquisition costs and profits/losses on disposals of subsidiaries. The Group
exercises judgement in assessing whether items should be classified as non-underlying. This assessment covers the nature of the item and the
material impact of that item on reported performance. Reversals of previous items are assessed based on the same criteria. Items charged to
non-underlying are one-off in nature and typically comprise restructuring, impairments, disposals and acquisitions. None of these items form
part of the engoing operational costs of the business.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment in the carrying amounts of assets and iiabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.,

Going concern and impact of COVID-19

As noted under the going concern note on page 3 of the Directors Report in the financial statements, there are severat areas of uncertainty in
retation to assumptions made in regards to, the forecasts for the next twelve months and beyond, which are partly based on percentage
probabilities that projects will be successfully won and that the fundraise will be suceessful resulting in the Company receiving £2.1m under the
terms of the offer. The Company are able to place a high level of reliance of a successful share issue given the share officer is fully underwritten
and the Company, pricr to approval of these financial statements, has in excess of 75% of shareholder votes in favour.

Revenue

Where there is variable consideration in the form of Pay for Results {“PFR”} revenue streams, the amount of revenue recognised is based on
estimations of when results are achieved based on agreements between the client and engagement teamn. There is judgement invelved to
ensure revenue is only recognised when it is certain results and benefits will be achieved.

Income taxes

The Group has operations in around twenty countries that are subject to direct and indirect taxes. The tax position is aften not agreed with tax
authorities until sometime after the relevant pericd end and, if subject to a tax audit, may be open for an extended period. In these
circumstances, the recognition of tax liabilities and assets requires management estimates and judgement to reflect 2 variety of factors; these
include the status of any ongoing tax audits, historical experience, interpretations of tax law and the likelihood of settlement. The changing
regulatory envirgnment affecting all multinationals increases the estimation uncertainty associated with calculating the Group’s tax pasition.
This is as a result of amendments 1o tax law at the national level, increased co-operation between tax authorities and greater trass border
transparency. The Group estimates and recognises liabilities of whether additional taxes will be due based on management’s interpretation of
country specific tax law, external advice and the jikelihood of settlement. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the results in the year in which such determination is made. In addition,
calculation and recognition of temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets requires estimates and judgements to be made on the
extent to which future taxable profits are available against which these temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax
Defarred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised. Recognition involves estimates regarding the forecasting of taxable profits of the business. Refer to note 7,

Employee benefits

Accounting for pensions and other post-retirement benefits involves estimates about uncertain events, including, but not limited te, discount
rates and life expectancy. Determination of the projected benefit obligations for the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme and post-retirement
plans are important to the recorded amount of the benefit expense in the income statement and the net liability recorded in the balance sheet.
Actuarial valuations are conducted annualiy. These determine the expense recorded in the income statement, the net liability recognised in the
balance sheet, and items to be recorded in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, Details of the assumptions used are
included in note 15 to the financial statements.
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Provisions

Provisions are estimates and are recognised when it is probable that an outflow of rescurces will be required to settle an obligation. Legal
opinions from legal teams engaged on behalf of the Group on current litigation cases are provided which assist in assessing a reasonable
provision. The Trustees of the Kurt Salmon retirement benefit cbligation provide monthly updates on the cngoing costs to service the pension
obligation and also costs associated to move the scheme towards closure. These costs depend on factors such as number of scheme members,
and ongoing values of individual pension accounts. Qther provisions in respect of restructuring of Group entities rely on estimates of costs to
cemplete liguidations from reputable professicnal service providers however timescales to completion cannot always be reliably determined.
An ongoing pension obligation which falls outside the scope of IAS19, to a former employee has been estimated using mortality tables to estimate
future expenditure.

Financial Assets
IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise expected credit losses {(ECL) at all times, and to update the amount of ECL recognised at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the credit risk of financial assets. Refer to note 12 on page 26.

Leases

IFRS 16 requires the determination of an incremental borrowing rate (IBR} to measure lease liabilities. The Group has no external borrowings
from which to base a calculation, therefore the 1BR is sourced from external borrowing assumptions relative to the Group’s historical financial
performance and remaining lease terms, from which management then estimate an appropriate IBR for each class of leases by geography.

{b) subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its “subsidiaries”)
made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. This generally accompanies a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or ¢convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the Group income statement from
or to the effective date of acquisition or disposal, respectively. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
1o bring the accounting policies into line with those used by the Group. In the income statement the results of subsidiaries acquired during the
period are classified as part of continuing operations from the date control is achieved. The results of subsidiaries that are disposed of during
the period are classified within discontinued operations in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions and balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

{c} Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is the aggregate of the fair values, at
the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except
for non-current assets {or disposal groups}) that are classified as held for resale which are recognised and measured at fair value tess costs to sell.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or lass as incurred. Where applicable the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair
valuas are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement peried adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the
fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with the relevant IFRS. The measurement
period is the period from acquisition to the date the Group cbtains complete infermation about facts and circumstances that existed as at the
acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of one year.

{d} Revenue

The Group follows the principles of IFRS 15 in determining appropriate revenue recognition policies. Revenue represents amounts chargeable
for services provided to third parties in the normal course of business. Revenue from services is recognised following the principles outlined in
IFRS 15°s five step model as detailed below.

. Identifying the contract

Upen acceptance of a proposal, @ contract is entered into, te include details on the scope of work and each party’s rights and obligations
regarcing the transfer of the service as well as payment terms for the service being transferred.

s Identifying the perfarmance obligations in the contract

Key deliverables are stated in the contract and monitored on an ongoing basis against the agreed delivery timetable. The contract states our
obligations to the client. In assessing performance obligatiens, consideration is given as to whether each identified key deliverable is a separate
performance obligation, or a series of services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer so as to
form one overall performance obligation. Where contracts have multiple workstreams to be delivered, those workstreams may work in
conjunction with one another and therefore the client may be unable to benefit from each delivered workstream individually. In some
circumstances, where the key deliverables achieve financial benefits in excess of those identified at the outset of the project, there may be scope
to receive variable consideration, if such a mechanism was included in the contract. This typically means that variable consideration is not
recognised until such time as the outcome of the financial benefits are quantified.

a Determining the transaction price
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Each contract has a section describing fees and will state the invoicing profile {i.e. the value and frequency) of the invoices to be raised. The
transaction price is developed during the proposal process through establishing the scope of the work and the staffing levels required to deliver
that work. Upon acceptance the total fee value is stated in the contract and is alsa broken down into an invoicing schedule. it is not typical for
contracts to include any variable consideration, however in the rare instances where there is variable consideration we consider revenue
recognition based on the most likely amaunt we will receive. Invoicing is generally weekly and is in general designed to reflect the progress
made oh projects.

*  Allocating the transaction price to separate performance obligations

Contracts typically include only one performance obligation and therefore the process of allocating the contract price is straightfoerward. In
instances where more than one performance obligation is identified in the contract these contracts typically include separately agreed fees for
each performance obligation. Allocation of the transaction price is therefore straightforward.

»  Recognising revenue as performance obligations are satisfied

Revenue is recognised over time as the work is performed. Performance of the service does not create an asset with an alternative use, and we
have enforceable right to payment for work performed to date. Throughout the delivery of a project the benefits to the client are delivered
incrementally. This approach is considered to be a faithful depiction of the transfer of services because staff time is the primary element in our
contracts.

Revenue is recognised on a weekly basis in accordance with time invested on the project i.e. based on hours recorded at charge out rates out of
a total contracted hours.

Given that the Group always expects revenue cantracts to fast less than twelve menths, the practical expedient not to disclose information about
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations has been applied. The Group has also applied the practical expedient not to
disclose the incremental costs of abtaining a contract.

e} Goodwiil

Goodwill arising in a business combination represents the excess of the cost of acquisition avar the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
recognised identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, Rabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment er more frequently
when there is indication of impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment lass. An impairment loss recognised for goadwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit ar loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amount subject
to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to equity prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in
determining any subsequent profit or loss on dispasal.

{f} Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets (e.g. customer relationships, trademarks and licences) are capitalised and amortised on a straight-fine basis over their
useful economic lives. Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring into use the specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed
three years. Costs associated with developing saftware are capitalised as intangible assets when they are separable or arise from contractual or
other legal rights. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recegnised as an expense as incurred. All other intangible
assets are amortised from three years to a maximum of ten years depending on useful econemic life.

{g} Property, plant ond equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised provision for impairment. Cost includes the
original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition and intended use.

{h) Leasehold impravements
Leasehold improvements are heid at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised provision for impairment. Cost includes the original
purchase price of the asset and the costs attributabie to bringing the asset to its warking condition and intended use.

{i} Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost of the asset to their residual values, on a straight-line basis, using the following rates:

Property plant and equipment — three to five years

Leasehold improvements —~three to ten years
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(il impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Assets that have an indefinite usefui life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment and whenever events or changes in
circumstance indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped by cash-generating units, and Proudfoot is the
Group’s sole cash-generating unit,

{k) Dividend distribution

Dividends to holders af common shares are recagnised as a liability in the Group and parent company’s financial statements in the period in
which the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established. For interim dividends the shareholders’ right to receive payment is the
same as the date of payment. For final dividends the shareholders have a right to receive payment once the proposed dividend has been
approved at the AGM.

{1) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, which are held for short-term cash
investment purposes. Restricted cash is recognised as cash on the balance sheet. For the purposes of the cashflow statement, restricted cash is
not reflected in cash balances. Releases from restricted cash are then disclosed as movements in restricted cash under investing activities in the
cashflow statement.

{m]) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets are initially
measured at transaction price and, where applicable, are subseguently measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are only offset in the balance
sheet when, and only when, there exists a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are settled,
b) the Group transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets, or ¢) the Group, despite
having retained some, but not all, significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred contral of the asset to another party.

Expected credit losses an trade recelvables are based on the Group’s historic credit lasses experienced over a three year period prior to the
period end. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward -looking information.

Company only

Expected credit losses on intercompany receivables undergo an impairment review annuaily and a loss allowance s recognised where it is
unlikely that a subsidiary will be able to repay the debt. This judgement is based on historic ability to repay the Company, adjusted for current
and farward-looking information, after taking into account revenue forecasts and subsidiaries own working capital needs.

{n) Financial liabilities

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs} and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement aver the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
maonths after the balance sheet date.

{o} Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currantly payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years or are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is caleulated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabifities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductibie temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which such differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calcidated at the tax rates which are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred
tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to reserves, in which case the
deferred tax is aiso dealt with in reserves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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{p} Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle that obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect is
material. Provisions are categorised as litigation provisions or other provisions.

(g} Own shares
The Company shares held by the employee benefit trusts established in respect of certain share-based awards are presented as a reduction of equity.

{r) Investments
The investments in the parent company balance sheet represent equity holdings in subsidiary companies. These are carried at cost less impaired
amounts and are reviewed annually for impairment.

(s} interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount.

{t) Divitlend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

{u} Finance leases [lessor}

At the commencement of a finance lease, the lessor transfers the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to the lessee. The amount due
under the terms of the finance lease is recognised as a receivable. The principal amount is recorded as a net investment in the lease. During the
term of the |ease the rental payments received by the lessor is made up of repayments of principal and interest income on the principal
outstanding. The repayment of principal reduces the amount due from the lessee in respect of the lease and interest income is recognised in
the income statement.

(v)] Retirement benefit costs

For defined contribution pension schemes, the amount charged 1o the income statement represents the contributions payable in the period.
Differences between contributions payable in the period and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the
balance shest.

For defined benefit schemes, the amounts charged to the income statement are the current service costs and gains and losses on settlements
and curtailments. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement if the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not
vested immediately, the costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs, The interest cost is calculated by applying a discount rate to
the net defined liability or asset.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the Group statement of comprehensive income. The US defined benefit pension scheme
is funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the Group in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets
are measured at fair value. Liabilities in relation to the defined benefit schemes are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corperate bond of equivalent currency and term to
the scheme liabilities. Actuarial valuations are obtained at each balance sheet date. The resuiting defined benefit liability is presented an the
face of the balance sheet. When annual actuarial valuations result in a pension asset, the value of the asset is recognised as nil

{w} Share-hased payments

Share awards are made to selected employees on a discretionary basis. Awards are measured at their fair value and are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the vesting pericd. Where awards do not vest, a transfer is made from the share compensation reserve to retained
earnings.

{x} Foreign currencies
The average monthly exchange rates used to translate the 2021 results were £1=51.38 (2020: £1=51.28) and £1=€1.16 (2020: 1=€1.11). The
year-end exchange rates used te translate the 2021 balance sheet were £1=51.35 (2020: £1=51.36) and £1=€1,1% (2020; 1=€1.11),

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are drawn up in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
aperates {its functional currency). For the purpase of the consalidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are
expressed in Sterling, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. In preparing the financial statements, transactions in
currencies other than Sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign company are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and retransiation of monetary items are included in the income statement for the period.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation ¢f non-manetary items carried at fair value are included in the income statement for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and fosses are recognised directly in equity.
For such nan-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directty in equity.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations {including
comparatives) are expressed in Sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rate for the period unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.

Exchange differences arising are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are
recognised in the income statement in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

When the Group disposes of a subsidiary, the cumulative historic foreign exchange gains and losses arising on consolidation are recycled through
the statement of comprehensive income.

{y) Transactions with subsidiary undertokings

Where costs have been incurred by the Company which benefit subsidiary undertakings, income is recognised by the Company in respect of the
expense recharged to the subsidiary. Expenses are recognised by the Company, when the subsidiary undertaking has incurred cost that will
benefit the Company.

{z) Government grants

Where government grants have been utilised, income is recognised over the pericd necessary to match them with the related costs for which
they are intended to compensate. For government backed loans with loan forgiveness eligibility, these are recognised as a liability on the balance
sheet until the point at which the loan is forgiven when the loan will be recorded as income in the income statement.

(oo} Non-redeemable preference shares
Non-redeemable preference shares are recorded as part of share capital. Any return paid on such shares is treated as a distribution of profits

and reported in the statement of changes in equity.

3. Revenue from Contracts with customers

2021 2020
£000 E£°0D00
Consulting Services 17,372 14,228
All revenues are derived from the provision of professional services.
4, Loss before tax
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:
2021 2020
Note £'000 £°000
Net foreign exchange losses 322 (318)
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 13
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 42 52
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 313 325
Non-underlying expense — othar 4a 779 690
Non-underlying income 4a (2,406) (1,373}
Staff costs 5 12,502 15,127
Furiough income (212) (461}
230 300

Auditor’s remuneration

Furlough income relates to the Jab Retention Scheme in the United Kingdom, furlough in France (activité partielle), Jobs Support Scheme in
Singapore and the Canadian Employee Wage Subsidy programme in Canada.
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2021 2020
Auditor's remuneration £'000 £'000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 186 253
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries 44 47
Total audit fees 230 300
Taxation compliance services - -
Audit related assurance services - -
Taxation advisory services - -
Total non-audit fees - -
Total auditor’s remuneration 230 300
4a, Non-underlying items
2021 2020
Expenses £000 £000
Restructuring 618 441
Cost relating to capital raising 108 -
Cost relating to delisting - 106
Additional costs relating to prior year disposals 52 143
779 690
2020 2020
Income £'000 £'000
Restructuring - -
Forgiveness of Covid related governmental reliefs (1,5950) -
Restructuring {203} -
Release of pravisions (253} {1,373)
{2,406) (1,373}
items charged to non-underlying are one off in nature and typically comprise restructuring, impairments, disposals and acquisitions. None of

these iterms form part of the angoing operational costs of the Proudfoot business.

+  £0.4m of restructuring costs of which £0.2m relates to employee severance and associated advisory payments and

£0.4m in relation to entity restructuring.

» E0.1m in relation te costs incurred during the capital raising during the year.

« £1.9m credit relating to forgiveness of US Payment protection toans forgiven by the Small Business Administration; and £0.3m of
unutilised employee provision, and a £0.2m credit in respect of recognition of a refund of WHT interest and penalties from the

Peruvian authorities.,

The £0.7m of non-underlying credit in 2020 comprise of £1.4m release of provisions held against cash held in escrow in refation to the disposed
Kurt Salmon business, offset by £0.4m of restructuring costs and £0.1m of costs incurred during the delisting of MCG PLC from the London Stock

Exchange.

5. Staff numbers and costs

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors} during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2021 2020

Number Number

Sales and marketing 38 42
Consultants 40 54
Support staff 25 30
Total 103 126
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The number of Group emplayees at the year-end was 100 (2020: 115}

The aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 11,435 13,236
Social security costs 957 1,039
Other including pension costs 322 391
12,714 14,666

The average number of Company emplayees for the vear was 6 {2020: 7). The payroll costs of the Company were £755,000 (2020: £822,000) for
wages and salaries, £94,000 (2020; £104,000) for social security costs and £21,000 (2020: £22,000} for pensian costs.

6a. Investment revenues

2021 2020
Note £000 £°000
Interest receivable on bank deposits and similar income 9 10
Finance income on rent recejvable - 12
9 22
6h. Finance costs
2021 2020
Note £000 £'000
Interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans and similar charges ? {9}
Finance costs an lease liabilities (49} (80)
Finance costs on retirement benefit plans 15 (551} {690)
{593) {779}
Tax
2021 2020
Recognised in the income statement: Total Total
Income tax expense on cohtinuing operations £'000 £'000
Current tax
Current year 32 135
Adjustment in respect of prior years {279) {202}
Current tax credit (247) (67)
Deferred tax
Current year - (4}
Adjustment in respect of prior years 27) -
Deferred tax credit 27) (4)
Total income tax
tncome tax (credit)/expense (274) (71}
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The income tax expense for the year is based on the effective United Kingdem statutory rate of corporation tax for the period of
19% (2020: 19%). Overseas tax is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdicticns.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the pre-tax loss from continuing cperations per the income statement as follows:

2021 2020
Before Before
non- Non- Non- £'000
underlying Underlying underlying Non-
items iterns Total items  underlying Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £°000 items £'000
Loss before tax from continuing operations {3,734) 1,627 {2,107) (8,966) 683 (8,283)
Notional income tax credit at the effective UK tax rate of (709} 309 {400)
19% (2020: 19%) {1,703) 130 {1,573)
Unrelieved current year tax losses 951 68 1,019 2,540 77 2,617
Irrecoverabie withholding tax 45 - 45 41 - 41
Effects of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions {271) - (271) 17 - 17
Profits offset by losses not previously recognised (310) - (310) {448) - (448)
Other temporary differences not previously recognised 89 _ 89 (372) _ (372}
Permanent differences 237 1377} {140) 56 (207} {151}
Relating to prior years {306) - {306) (202} - {202)
Income tax expense on cantinuing operations (274) - (274) {71) - (71)
Effective tax rate for the year 7% 7% 1% 1%

permanent differences reflect tax adjustments for intercompany transactions where taxable income in one territory is not mirr ored by a taxable
deduction in the other territory, and other non-tax deductible items such as client entertaining, fines and penalties, and costs of a capital nature.
in the 2021 budget it was announced that the UK corporation tax rate is due to increase to 25% from 1 April 2023, however, this was not
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and therefore does not affect the rate used in the deferred tax recognition in these accounts.

8. Intangible assets and goodwill

Software
costs
Group £°000
Cast
At 1January 2021 2,632
Exchange differences 17
At 31 December 2021 2,649
Amortisation and impairment
At 1lanuary 2021 2,629
Charge for the year 3
Exchange differences 17
At 31 December 2021 2,649

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 -
At 31 December 2020 3
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Software
costs
Group £°000
Cost
At 1lanuary 2020 2601
Exchange differences (€2)
At 31 Decemnber 2020 2832
Amortisation and impairment
At 1January 2020 2679
Chorge for the year 13
Fxchange differences (€3)
At 31 December 2020 2629
Carrying amount
At 31 Decemnber 2020 2
15

At 31 Decembier 2019

Allintangibles in the Company are fully amortised.
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Group Company
Fixtures, fittings and equipment £'000 £°000
Cost
At 1 January 2021 616 109
Additions 5 -
Disposals - -
Exchange differences 4 -
At 31 December 2021 625 109
Accumulated depreciation
At 1January 2021 540 81
Charge far the year 43 16
Disposals - -
Exchange differences 4 -
At 31 December 2021 587 97
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 38 12
At 31 December 2020 76 28

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed for impairment and adjusted if appropriate.
Group Company
£7000 £'000
Fixtures, fittings ang equipment

Cost
At 1 lanuary 2020 646 108
Additions 13 1
Disposals {31} -
Exchange differences {12} -
At 31 December 2020 616 109
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020 530 54
Charge for the year 52 17
Disposals (31) -
Exchange differences (11) -
At 31 December 2020 540 81
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 76 28
At 31 December 2019 116 a4
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10. Leases

The Group leases office space in the two major jurisdictions from which back-office support operates. In some jurisdictions it is custornary for
lease contracts to provide for payments to increase each year by inflation or to be reset periodically to market rental rates.

The Group leases certain items of plant and equipment. {eases of plant and equipment comprise only fixed payments over the lease terms,

Land and Plant and

buildings machinery Total
Right of Use Assets £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 835 6 BAl
Amortisation (307} {6) (313)
Foreign exchange movements 4 - 4
At 31 December 2021 532 0 532

Land and Plant and

buildings machinery Total
Lease liahilities £'000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 (1,009} {6) (1,015)
Interest expense (49) - (49}
Lease payments 406 [ 412
Foreign exchange movements {8) - {4}
At 31 December 2021 {656) - {656}

11. Investments
Shares Total

Company €000 £'000
Investment in Group companies
At 1January 2021 2,000 2,000
Impairment - -
Decrease in shareholding - -
At 31 December 2021 2,000 2,000
At 31 December 20290 2,000 2,000

The principal subsidiaries of MCG PLC, all of which have been included in the consolidated financial statements arelisted in Note 22 on page xx.:
Impairments are the result of annual impairment reviews of the PLC Company investments to reflect the net asset values of the underlying investments.

The Group hoids no external investments.
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Group Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
Amounts due < 1 year £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Trade receivables — gross 2,757 1,921 - -
Alowance for expected credit losses (141) (88) - -
Trade receivables — net 2,616 1,833 - -
Amounts owed by Group undertaking - - 8,738 4,953
Other receivables 1,108 1,354 56 50
Contact assets 160 a3 - -
Prepayments 643 462 237 168

4,527 3,692 9,031 5171

Debtor days at the year-end were 50 (2020: 61 days). No intarest was charged on receivables. The directors consider that the carrying value of
trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value (see note 20).

Reconciliation of contract assets and liabilities

2021 2020
£000 £000
Opening contract assets a3 331
Opening contract liabilities (76) (276)
Net {33) 55
Revenue recognised 17,372 14,228
Billings in year- gver time (17,312) (14,261)
Subtotal 27 22
Closing contract assets 160 43
Clasing contract liabilities (133) (76}
Net 27 (33}
Movements in expected credit losses for trade receivables are as follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Opening provision for impairment of trade receivables {8) (13}
Increase during the year {119) {75)
Receivable written off during the year as uncollectible 66 -
Unused amounts reversed - -
At 31 December 2021 (141) (88)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk has historically been low. The expected credit loss for trade receivables has been calculated at less than 1%
of total Group revenue in 2021 and 2020. This is based on Group’s historic credit losses experienced over a thres-year pericd prior to the period
end. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking information.
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Company only

Movements in expected credit losses from related parties and loans ta related parties for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Receivables
from related

parties

£'000

Opening provision for impairment (31,880)
increase during the year (11)
Release during the year 41
Revaluation movement {5)
At 31 December 2021 (31,855)

For the Company, receivables from its subsidiaries are not settled an a regular basis therefore the impairment allowance is recalculated at period
end to establish an impairment allowance. Expected credit losses are recognised where it is unlikely that a subsidiary wilf be unable to repay
the debt. This judgement is based on historic ability to repay the Company, adjusted for current and forward-looking information, after taking
into account revenue forecasts and subsidiaries own working capital needs.

13. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Trade payables 685 1,018 60 143
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 125 160
Other taxes and social security 574 706 37 34
Other payables 505 526 136 136
Contract liabilities 133 76 - -
Accruals 5,815 4,464 207 241
7,712 6,790 565 714

Trade and other payables principally comprise amaunts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period taken for
trade purchases is 25 days {2020: 36 days). The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value
{see note 20).

14. Tax assets and liabilities

Graup Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £°000 £000 £'000

Current tax
Current tax receivables 166 435 - -
Current tax liabilities (425) (1,100) - -




Management Consulting Group PLC
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Registered number 01000608

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current year:

Pension
funds and Other
retirement Tax temporary
provision losses differences Total
Group £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Net deferred tax
At 1 January 2020 - - (4} 4
Foreign exchange - - - -
Recognised in Group statement of comprehensive income - - - -
Charged to Group income statement - 1 3 4
At 31 December 2020 - 1 1) -
Foreign exchange
Charged to the Group income statement - 26 1 27
At 31 December 2021 nd 27 - 27
2021 2020
Group £'000 £000
Deferred tax assets 27 1
Deferred tax liabilities - {1)
Total 27 -

At 31 December 2021 the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £0.03m (2020 £ KNil).

At 31 December 2021 the Group did not recognise deferrad tax assets totalling £35.7m (2020: £34.1m), of which £27.7m {2020: £26.6m) are in
respect of tax losses and £8.0m {2020: £7.1m) are in respect of cther temporary differences. The Group believes there will not be sufficient
future taxable profits te utilise the deductions arising from the reversal of these deferred tax assets.

No deferred tax liability is recognised in relation to the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the tempaorary differences which would give rise 1o the liability and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. The unrecognised deferred tax liability at 31 December 2021 of £0.8m {2020: £0.9m) is in respect of the unremitted earnings of those
overseas subsidiaries where remittance to the UK of those earnings would still result in a tax liability, principally as a result of tax due in overseas
intermediate holding companies and dividend withholding taxes levied by the overseas tax jurisdictions in which these subsidiaries operate.

Company
The Company did not recognise deferred tax assets or liabilities in either 2021 or 2020. The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of
£5.7m (2020: £7.1m).

15. Retirement benefit abligations

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes throughout the world. The total cost charged to the income statement
in respect of defined contribution schemes was £322,000 (2020: £520,000), representing contributions payable to these schemes by the
comtinuing Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

Defined benefit schemes

The retirement benefits obligation reflected in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2021 relates to the net liability under a part-funded US
defined benefit pension scheme of £7.0m, an unfunded French retirement obligation of £0.3m, a German defined benefit pension scheme of
£1.0m and a legacy Kurt Salmon UK defined pension scheme which shews a closing asset position of £0.1m., for purposes of these accounts, the
asset is not recognised on the balance sheet. The net post-retirement obligation for defined benefit schemes decreased from £9.6m at 31
December 2020 to £8.3m at 31 December 2021, principally as a result of a drop in interest rates, which was offset by favourable investment
performance by the US scheme plan assets.
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The retirement benefit ohligations are summarised helow-

2021 2020

£°000 £000
US defined benefit pension scheme (7,041) (8,128)
Proudfoot French statutory obligation {259} {289)
UK defined benefit pension scheme - (15)
Proudfoot German defined benefit pension scheme (1,036) (1,180}
All schemes (8,336) (5,612}

{A} US schemes

The funded US defined benefits pension scheme was closed to new entrants with effect from 1 February 2001 and further benefit accruals
ceased for all members with effect from 31 December 2001. Benefits are linked to final average pay. A Pensions committee is responsibte for
ensuring the scheme is compliant with US regulations. A sub-committee, the investments committee, appointed Bank of America Merrill Lynch
to manage the investment fund portfolio, and AON as actuaries advise on compliance with US regulations. The investment performance and
liability experience are actively reviewed by the pensicn committee and its advisers, and monitors its exposure to changes in interest rates and
equity markets. These measures are considered when deciding whether significant changes in investment strategy is required and to determine
the optimal investment mix bearing in mind the Group’s tolerance far risk and the longer-term objective that over time the deficit will reduce
accordingly. During 2021 the fund was managed on a basis to reduce (as far as possible) the deficit between [abilities and assets whilst
maintaining an appropriate risk profile. This was achieved by having 35% of the fund in equities and 65% in bonds. The investment split is
considered by the investment committee on a quarterly basis but has not changed during the year.

The scheme represents 84% of the Group's pension chligations {2020: 85%). US liabilities are backed by USD assets to minimise any currency
risk. Any class of holdings in non-US listed stocks are held by way of an ADR {American depositary receipt) which are denominated in US doltars.
All equity investments are in quoted stocks.

During 2021, the Company has made payments totalling £0.6m into the pension fund. Cash contributions are required due to there not being
sufficient funding balances remaining to fully satisfy the contribution requirements in the year. AON prepare a valuation to document the cash
contributions required. Due to plan performance there are no expected contributions to be made in 2022 (2021: £1.4m}.

The pension deficit has decreased during 2021 by £2.1m {202C: £0.2m decrease).

The principal assumptions used for the recent actuarial valuations were:

2021 2020
Discount rate 2.63% 2.20%
General inflation assumption nfa n/fa
Mortality table Pri— 2012 {scale MP 2021) Pri— 2012 (scale MP 2020}
2021 2020
Male Female Male Female
Life expectancy at age 75% 9.5 10.3 12.10 14.00

The US defined benefits pension scheme has historically adopted the iatest mortality assumptions issued by the Society of Actuaries {SOA) prior to
the measurement date. On QOctober 23, 2020, the Society of Actuaries’ Retirement Plans Experience Committee (RPEC) released an updated set of
mortality assumptions — Pri-2012 Private Retirement Plans Mortality Tables. The mortality scale has been updated to MP-2021.

Pri-2012 Private Retirement Plans Maortality provides new base mortality assumptions for private retirement plans using 2012 as the central year.
The new base mortality assumptions split annuitants into retiree and contingent survivar tables. The updated data in the study shows higher
mortality for older individuals.

Scale MP-2021 reflects the latest information available from the Society of Actuaries which reflects deaths during 2019. Since large scale mortality
data takes a while to process, the impact of the pandemic is not currently flowing through the mortality data, however the difference between actual
and expected mortality was seen by management as not material on the pension liability.

There are neither guaranteed nor discretionary increases to benefits after retirement.
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(i} Companents of amounts recognised in the income statement

2021 2020
£'000 £000
Service costs 357 410
Interest expense on plan obligations 1,074 1,555
tnterest income on plan assets {894) {1,288)
Total charge to income statement 537 677
All items charged to the income statement have been recognised as finance costs.
(i) Components of amounts recognised in the other comprehensive income statement
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Liability (gain} /toss due to changes in assumptions {1,582} 3,298
Liability experience lass arising in the year 776 154
Asset gain arising during the year (348) {3,920}
Total gain recognised in the other comprehensive income statement (1,154} (468)

(ili} The amount included in the balante sheet arising from the Group's obligations in respect of the US defined benefit pension scheme is as

follows:
2021 2020
Note £'000 £000
Present vaiue of defined benefit obligations 15(iv) (47,503} (50,478)
Fair value of scheme assets 15(iv) 40,462 42,350
Liability recognised in the balance sheet (7,041} (8,128)
The weighted average duration of the obligation is approximately & years.
{iv) Movements in balance sheet amounts
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Opening defined benefit obligation (50,478 {51,353)
Interest cost (1.074) (1,555)
Service cost {357) (410)
Actuarial gain/(loss) — Financial assumption changes 1,780 (3,787)
Actuarial (loss}/ gain - Demographic assumption changes (198} 489
Actuarial loss — Unexpected experience (776} (154)
Exchange differences {458) 1,808
Benefits paid 4,058 4,524
Closing defined benefit obligation (47,503) (50,478}
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Changes in the fair values of the plan assets are as follnws:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Opening fair value of plan assets 42,350 43,044
Interest income 894 1,288
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 348 3,920
Employer contributions 550 140
Exchange differences 378 {1,518)
Benefits paid {4,058) {4,524)
Closing fair value of ptan assets 40,462 42,350
Net retirement benefit obligation {7,041) {8,128}
(v) The fair value of plan assets at the balance sheet date are analysed as follows:
2021 2020
£°000 £000
Equities 10,135 10,698
Bonds 25,772 27,015
Cash 4,385 4,430
Other 170 207
40,462 42,350

The plan assets held are traded in liquid markets.
(vi) Sensitivities on key assumptions

USs 0B pension
A 1% decrease in the discount rate would increase the benefit cbligation by £4,326,000 an increase of 8%.

A one-year increase in life expectancy would increase the benefit abligation by £2,108,000 an increase of 4%.

The sensitivities applied are in line with recent experience and sensitivity on discount rate is the sole sensitivity run by the actuaries on the
pension valuation.

{vii} Estimated future benefit payments

2021 2020

£7000 £000
In one year 3,917 3,908
In twe years 2,849 3,827
In three years 3,781 3,758
In four years 3,690 3,650
In five years 3,542 3,596
In six to ten years 15,380 15,715

{B) French schemes

The IDR (Indemnités de Départ en Retraite) is a post retirement lump sum paid to an employee upon retirement. The benefit depends on final
salary and years of service within the company. If the employee leaves the company before retirement age the benefit is forfeited. It is a
mandatory benefit defined by collective agreement {different for each activity area) with a minimum imposed by French law. Due to the long-
term nature of the commitment, this benefit falls under the scape of 1AS13. Since the lump sum is a one-off payment paid at retirement age, it
is not appropriate to illustrate life expectancies. The valuation assumes that members retire at age 5. There are neither guaranteed nor
discretionary increases to benefits after retirement.

Unfunded French retirement obligation

The principal assumptions used for the recent actuarial valuation of the French retirement scheme were:

2021 2020
Rate of increase in salaries 2% 2%
Discount rate 0.7% 0.25%

Mortality tables TPGFOS/TPGHOS TPGFOS5/TPGHOS
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(i} Components of amounts recognised in the income statement

2021 2020

£000 £000

Service costs 15 (14}

Interest expense on plan obligations 1 2

Total charge/{credit) to income statement 16 {12)
{ii} Amounts recognised in the other comprehensive income statement

2021 2020

B £'000 £000

Liability gain due to changes in assumptions {28) (86)

Total gain recognised in the other comprehensive income statement (28} (86)

{iii) The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's abligations in respect of the French post-retirement benefit scheme
is as follows:

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Present value of defined benefit obligations {259) (289)
Fair value of scheme assets - -
Liability recognised in the balance sheet [259) (289)
{iv) Movements in balance sheet amounts
Changes in the present value of the French defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2021 2020
£°000 £'000
Opening defined benefit obligation (289} (366)
Service cost (15) 14
Actuarial gain 28 86
Interest cost {1) (2}
Foreign exchange difference 18 (21}
Closing defined benefit obligation (259) (285)

The French obligation is unfunded and holds no plan assets.
There are no experience adjustments in relation to the French post-retirement scheme in the period since acquisition.

(v) Sensitivities on key assumptions
The impact of a movement on a discount rate of 0.25% would be insignificant.

Life expectancy sensitivity is not required for a lump sum on retirement only scheme.

{€} UK schemes

The UK Scheme relates to a legacy Kurt Salmeon defined pension scheme. The scheme operates on a defined benefit contribution basis with final
benefits subject to a minimum value based on final pay. Benefits are linked to final pay and ceased to accrue with effect from 13 August 2007
and is closed to new members. The plan is subject to the regulatary requirements that apply to UK Pension plans. Independent trustees are
responsible for ensuring that the plan operates in a manner that is compliant with UK regulations,
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UK retirement obligation
The principal assumptions used for the recent actuarial valuation of the UK retirement scheme were:

2021 2020

£°000 £'000
Distount rate 1.9% 1.3%
Inflation 3.5% 3.1%
Mortality table 90% of S3PA 90% of S3PA
Assumption of Valuation date 31/12/2021 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2020
Mortality projection table 2020 2020 2019 2019
Gender Male Female Male Female
Mortality at 31/12/2021 229 248 218 23.9
Mortality for birth year 1956 22.9 24.8 22.9 23.2
Maortality for birth year 1976 24.6 26.0 24.6 26.0

Life expectancy

Mortality was previously assumed to be in line with 50% of standard table S3PA with improvements in mortality fully projected in line with the
CMI 2018 model with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.5% pa for males and 1% pa for females, The latest standard table is S3PA and the
latest projection js the CMI 2020 model. A comparison of life expectancies (at age 65) under these and the previous assumptions is shown below:

The above mortality project tabje illustrates this for the current table and the prior year table, The different lines represent:

s Life expectancy assuming mortality at 31/12/2021 with no future improvements
* Llife expectancy assuming project mortality for a member aged 65 at 31/12/2021
*  Life expectancy assuming projected mortality for a member aged 65 at 31/12/2040

(i} Amounts recognised in income statement in respect of the UK post-retirement scheme are as foliows:
Components of amounts recognised in the income statement:

2021 2020
£000 £'000
interest expense on plan liabilities (20) (36}
Interest income on plan assets 20 a3
Total charge to the income statement - (3}
(ii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income statement
Amounts recognised in the other comprehensive income statement:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Liability loss due to change in assumption g2 92
Asset {gain}/loss arising during the year {211) 42
Total {gain}/lnss recognised in the other comprehensive income statement {129) 134

There are no expected contributions payable for the next annual reporting period.

(iii) The amounts included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of the UK post-retirement benefit scheme are
as follows:

2021 2020
£°000 £/000
Present value of defined benefit obligations {1,667) {1,567)
Fair value of scheme assets 1,781 1,552
Adjustment to reduce asset value to match liability (114) -
Asset/(Liability) recognised in the baiance sheet -~ (15)

The weighted average duraticn of the obligation is approximately 24 years.
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Opening defined benefit obligation (1,567) {1,691)
Interest cost (20) (36)
Settlements 2 252
Actuarial loss - financial assumption changes (26) (90)
Actuarial loss — demographic assumption changes {56} 2)
Closing defined benefit obligation (1,667) (1,567}

Changes in the fair values cf the plan assets are as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Opening fair value of plan assets 1,552 1,787
interest income 20 33
Settlements [2) (292)
Company contributions - 66
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 211 (42)
Closing fair value of plan assets 1,781 1,552

{iv) The fair value of plan assets at the balance sheet date are analysed as foilows:

2021 2020

£000 £'000

Equities 1,309 1,355
Bonds 182 53
Cash 146 70
Other 144 74
1,781 1,552

All equity investments are in quoted stocks.

{iv) Sensitivities on key assumptions
A 0.5% decrease in the discount rate would increase the benefit obligation by £102,000.

A 0.5% increase in the rate of inflation would increase the benefit obligation by £84,000
An increase of life expectancy of scheme members at age 65 would increase in the benefit obligation by £15,000.
The sensitivities applied are in line with recent experience.

{D) German scheme

The German Company, Alexander Proudfoet GmbH, has a commitment to pay out 2 pension to its employees. The scheme is closed to new
entrants. A valuation is undertaken in respect of the liability. The assets to support the pension scheme take the form of a re-insurance policy to
ensure that the company has the required funds to meet its future obligations. The reinsurance policies are not qualified as plan assets under
1AS19, because they are not pledged to the beneficiaries.

German retirement obligation
The principal assumptions used for the recent actuarial valuation of the German retirement scheme were:

2021 2020
Discount rate 1.47% 1.12%
Inflation 2% 2%
Mortality table Heubeck Heubeck

RT2018G RT2018G
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{i} Amounts recognised in income statement in respect of the German post-retirement scheme are as follows:
Components of amounts recognised in the income statement:

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Interest expense an plan liabilities 13 15

Total charge to the income statement 13 15
(ii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income statement
Amounts recognised in the cther comprehensive income statement:

2021 2020

£'000 £000

Liability (gain)/loss due to change in assumptions (73) 39

Total (gain)/loss recognised in the other comprehensive income statement (73) 29

There are no expected contributions payable for the next annual reporting period.

(iii} The amounts included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of the German post-retirement benefit

scheme are as follows:

2021 2020

£'000 £'000
Present value of defined benefit obligations {1,036) {1,180¢
Liability recognised in the balance sheet (1,036) (1,180}

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2021 2020

£000 £'000
Opening defined benefit obligation {1,180) (1,072]
Interest cost {13) (15])
Benefits paid 6 6
Actuarial gain /(loss} — financial assumptions 72 (41)
Actuarial gain — experience adjustments 1 2
Exchange differences 78 (60)
Closing defined benefit obligation (1,036) (1,180)

{iv) Sensitivities on key assumptions
A 1% decrease in the discount rate would increase the benefit ohligation by £233,000.

The sensitivities applied are in line with recent experience.
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Group
Other
Litigation provisicn Total
£000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 685 1,215 1,900
Utilised {358) {167} {525)
Released (187) (98} (285)
Charge - 1 1
Foreign exchange movement (23) - (23)
At 31 December 2021 117 951 1,068
Company
Other
Litigation provisicn Total
£'000 £'000 £°000
At 1 January 2021 128 182 911
Utilised (12) {95) {107)
Released - 5 5
Charge - - -
Fareign exchange movement - - -
At 31 December 2021 117 692 809
Group
Property Other
provision Litigation provision Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2020 45 2,131 1,353 3,529
Utiksed (42) (159) (163) (364)
Released (€] (1,401) {5) {1,410)
Charge - - 41 41
Foreign exchange movement 1 114 (11) 104
At 31 December 2020 — 685 1,215 1,900
Company
o Other
Litigation provision Total
£'000 £'000 £°000
At 1 fanuary 2020 1,598 853 2,451
Utilised {154) (106) 1260}
Released (1,401) (5) (1,406}
Charge - 40 40
Foreign exchange movement 86 - 86
At 31 December 2020 129 782 911

Provisions are expected to be utilised aver the period to 2022 and are discounted if material.

Property provisions relate to residual obligations arising from the serving of the transitional service agreements in relation to the two Kurt
Salmon disposals. On adoption of IFRS 16 in the prior year, the onerous lease provision in respect of the San Francisco office previously held as
a provision was derecognised as onerous leases don’t exist under IFRS 16.
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Litigation provisions relate to a number of legal disputes in which the Group is currently involved in relation to former employees of the Group
and also in refation to the Kurt Salmon disposal. The amount provided represents management's best estimate of the Group’s liability having
taken legal advice. Uncertainties relate to whether claims will be settled out of court, or if not whether the Group is successful in defending any
action. Due to the nature of the tlaims, management have not disclosed current or future information on the basis that this may be prejudicial
to the Group's position in defending the cases brought against it.

Other provisions relate to additional pension payments to a former Proudfoot employee which do not meet the definition of a pension in
accordance with IAS 19, costs relating to the ongoing servicing of the Kurt Salmon Retirement benefit pension, and costs associated with the
restructuring and liquidation of group companies.

17. Share capital
{o} Called up share capital

2021 2020
£'000 £°000
Issued and fully paid
1,516,528,424 (2020: 1,516,528 424) shares of 1p each 15,165 15,165
1,945,315,013 (2020: nil) non-redeemable preference shares of 0.0023p
each 4,475 -
19,640 15,165

Non-redeemable preference shares are a new class of shares and carry voting rights equivalent to those of Ordinary shares. The non- redeemable
preference shares have a preferentiai right to receive dividends over the rights attaching to the Ordinary shares until such time as dividends equal
in value to the subscription value of the non-redeemable preference shares have been paid by the Company. Foliowing this occurrence these shares
will rank equally with the Qrdinary shares with respect to dividend entitlements.

No expense has been recognised in the year in respect of share awards. The cumulative share compensation reserve at 31 December 2021 is £26 000
{2020: £26,000}. Na awards were granted in the year.

{b) Share awards

Conditionol awards

The Performance Share Plan was introduced during 2008. Any employee (including an executive director) of the Company and its subsidiaries is
eligible to participate in the Plan at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”}.

The Committee may grant awards as conditional shares, a nil {or nominal} cost option with a short exercise period or as forfeitable shares. The
Committee may also decide to grant cash-based awards of an equivalent value to share-based awards or to satisfy share-based awards in cash.

The vesting of awards is subject to performance conditions set by the Committee.

Restricted awards

Share awards to employees other than directors may be made on a restricted basis. These awards are normalty only subject ta an employment
condition and can be satisfied with either market purchase shares or from up to nine million of new shares following a shareholder resolution
passed on 17 December 2015. Executive directors are not eligible to participate in restricted share plans.

Number of

shares

Outstanding at 1 January 2021 205,579
Granted during the year -
Forfeited during the year -
Satisfied during the year -
Qutstanding at 31 December 2021 205,579
Exercisable at 31 December 2021 205,579

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2021 have an exearcise price of nil.
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18. Reserves
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:

Reserve Description and purpose

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Capital redemption reserve Amounts transferred from share capital on redemption of issued shares
Shares held by employee benefits trusts Weighted average cost of own shares held in treasury and by the ESOP trust
Translation reserve Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of overseas operations

intg sterling

Accumulated deficit All other net gains and losses and transactions with owners (e.g. dividends)
not recognised elsewhere

The share compensation reserve represents the net credit arising from the charge for share awards less amounts transferred to retained earnings
following the lapse of share awards. Shares held by the employee benefit trusts represent 244,000 shares (2020: 244,0600}. The value of these
shares held in reserves is £101,000 {2020: £101,000).

The translation reserve of £2,463,000 represents all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations plus any foreign currency difference arising from the group’s net investments in foreign operations.

2021 2021 2020 2020
Shares held by ESOP/Treasury shares Number £'000 Number £000
Ordinary shares held by the ESOP 244 101 244 101

The shares held by the ESOP are expected to be issued under share option contracts. During 2021, nil shares were acguired to satisfy vested
shares awards not yet exercised,

139. Notes to the cash flow statement

The Group had financing liabilities arising from cash flow activities in the year ended 31 December 2021, in respect of lease liabilities held on the
balance sheet following the adoption of IFRS16. These total £0.7m, refer to note 10 for further information.

Company Only
Reconciliation of financial liabilities

Opening Intercompany  Intercompany Closing

balance debt  cash outflows Transtation balance

at1/1/21 forgiveness £°000 £000 at 31/12/21

£000 £'000 £000

Intercompany receivables 4,953 26 3,759 - 8,738
Intercompany payables (160} - 35 - (125)

Total 4,793 26 3,794 - 8,613
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Reconciliation of net cash and debt position

Cash and cash

Bank equivalents Leases Totol
borrowings {£000) {£°000} {£'000}
{£000}

Net cash/(debt) held at 1 January 2020 - 7,672 {1,715) 5,957
Cash flow {1,186) (4,850) 775 {5,261)
Interest - - (80) {80)
Foreign exchange movements - {307) 5 {302)
Net cash/(debt) held at 31 December 2020 {1,186} 2,515 (1,015} 314
Cash flow {1,064} 1,293 412 641
Interest - - (49} (49}
PPP loan forgiven 2,250 - - 2,250
Foreign exchange movements - (192) (4) {196}
Net cash/(debt) held at 31 December 2021 - 3,616 (656) 2,960

Cash and cosh equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the purpeses of the cash flow statement.

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£'000 £'000 £000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 4,942 4,354 1,956 2,166
Restricted cash (1,326) (1,839) (3,326) {1,839)
Cash and cash equivalents for cash flow 3,616 2,515 630 327

Included within the 2021 Group cash balance of £4.9m and Company cash balance of £2.0m is £1.3m (2020: £1,8m} of cash which is not available
for use by the Group, This represents cash held in restricted bank accounts which is required to be retained to support indemnity obligations to
Wavestone, the acquirer of the French and related aperations of Kurt Salmon and in support of the Kurt Salmon UK pension scheme, which
became PLC Company’s obligation following the sale of the Kurt Saimon retail and consumer goods operations.

240. Financial instruments

Capital structure and treasury policies

Review of treasury policies

The Group and Company are financed by shareholders’ equity. The Group and Company’s capital structures are reviewed regularly to ensure
that each remains relevant to the business and its planned development. There are established treasury policies that are reviewed regularly to
ensure that they remain relevant to the business.

Risk management

The objective of the Group and Company’s treasury policies is to provide liquidity for the Group and Campany at minimum risk and minimum
cost and to hedge known financial exposures, when economically efficient. The main treasury risks faced by the Group and Company are country-
specific liquidity risks. The Group and Company’s objectives regarding exchange rate risk, and liquidity risk are, respectively, to minimise interest
charges; minimise realised exchange losses on foreign currency transactions; ensure that the Group and Company only deal with creditworthy
customers; and ensure that the Group and Company have sufficient resources available to meet their liabilities as they fall due. Investment of
the Group and Company’s cash is made within policies that cover counterparty risk and liquidity. Surplus cash is invested generally in overnight
deposits.
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The Group and company’s exposure to credit risk has historically been low. The impairment allowance for trade receivables (refer note 12} is
based on the Group’s historic credit losses experienced over a three year period prior to the period end. The historical loss rates are then
adjusted for current and forward-looking information. For the Company, receivables from its subsidiaries are not settled on a regular basis
therefore the impairment allowance is recalculated at period end to establish an impairment allowance. Expected credit losses are recognised
where it is unlikely that a subsidiary will be unable to repay the debt. This judgement s based on historic ability to repay the Company, adjusted
for current and forward-looking information, after taking into account revenue forecasts and subsidiaries own working capital needs.

The most important foreign currencies for the Group and the Company are the US Dollar and the Euro. The relevant exchange rates to Sterling
were:

2021 2020
Average Closing Average Closing
£1 = US Dollar 1.38 1.35 1.28 1.37
£l = Euro 1.16 1.19 1.11 1.11
Interest rate gnd currency profile of financial assets and financial liabilities ot the year-end — Group
2021 2020
Floating Floating
rate rate
Currency Note £000 £°000
Financial assets
Sterling 2,288 1,638
Us Dolar 826 1,451
Euro 1,427 1,053
Qther 401 212
Cash and cash equivalents 19 4,942 4,354
Sterling 1,661 1,178
Us Dolar 1,141 227
Euro 980 1,988
Qther 745 299
Trade and other receivables 12 4,527 3,682
Financial liabilities
Sterling (5.253) (3,351)
Us Dolilar {632} (1,048)
Euro (1,505) {1,868)
Gther 1322} {523)
Trade and other payables 13 (7,712} (6,790)
Sterling {128) (409)
US Dollar (528) (606)
Lease liabilities {656) (1,015)

The cash and cash equivalents, including short-term deposits, attract interest rates based an Libor, US Dollar Libor and Euribor for periods of up
to three months, The carrying value of these assets approximates their fair value.

Exposure to credit risk — Group
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying amount

2021 2020
Note £°000 £7000
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,942 4,354

4,942 4,354
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The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Carrying amaunt

2021 2020
Note £'000 £'000
Europe 353 1,168
United Sates 1,290 62
Rest of the World 113 202
United Kingdom B6D 401
12 2,616 1,833
The Group’s most significant customer accounted for 21 % of the trade receivables carrying amount at 31 December 2021 (2020: 61%).
2021 2020
Note £'000 £000
Mot past due 1,558 628
Past due 0—30 days 896 1,077
Past due 31-120 days 162 128
12 2,616 1,833
The credit quality of trade receivables not past due is believed to be A-.
Liquidity risk — Group
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 1-2
amount cash flows or less Months years
31 December 2021 Note £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 {7,712) {7,712) - - -
Lease liabilities 10 {656) {656) {175) {48) (433}
{8,368) (8.368) (175) (48) {433)
Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 1-2
amount cash flows or less Months years
31 December 2020 Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (6,790) (6,790) - - -
Bank Borrowings (1,186) {1,186) - - (1,186)
Lease liabilitias 10 (1,015) {1,015} {181) (181) (653)
(8,991) {8,991) {181) {181) {1,839)
Currency risk — Group
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows, based on notienal amounts:
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Euro US Dollar Euro Dollar
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Trade receivables 359 1,412 1,190 223
Trade payables {44} {234} {66) (196)
Gross balance sheet exposure 315 1,178 1,124 27
Notional current year sales 4,562 3,969 5,060 1,916
Notional current year purchases (2,824} {2,231) {3,036) (1,846)
Gross and net exposure 1,738 1,738 2,024 70
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Sensitivity analysis ~ Group

A 5% strengthening of Sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have decreased equity and profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 5% is the annual exchange
rate movement that is deemed reasonably probable for the two most significant currencies in the Group based on recent experience. 2020

sensitivities were prepared on a 5% currency movement.

Equity Profit or loss
£'000 £'000
2021
US Dollar (586) {83}
Eurg (5) (83}
2020
LS Dollar (1) (3}
Euro [53) (96)

A 5% weakening of Sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have increased equity and profit or doss by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 5% is the annual exchange rate
movement that is deemed reasonably probable for the two most significant currencies in the Group based on recent experience. 2020

sensitivities were prepared on a 5% currency movement.

Equity Profit or loss
£000 £°000
2021
U5 Dollar 62 91
Euro 61 51
2020
uUs Dollar 327
Europ 4 107
The Group has variable or fixed rate financial assets or financial liabilities.
Fair vaiues versus carrying amounts — Group
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
Note £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Trade and other receivables 12 4,527 4,527 3,692 3,692
Cash and cash equivalents 19 4,542 4,942 4,354 4,354
Trade and other payables 13 (7,712) (7,712} (6,790) {6,790)
Lease liabilities 10 {656) {656) {1,015} {1,015)
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interest rate and currency profile of financial assets and finonciol ligbilities at the year-end — Company

2021 2020
Floating Fleating
rate rate
Currency Note £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Sterling 1,819 1,410
Us Dollar 54 158
Euro B3 598
Cash and cash equivalents 19 1,956 2,166
Sterling 7.435 3,831
US Dollar 811 542
Euro 785 798
Trade and other receivables 12 95,031 5,171
Financial liabilities
Sterling {561) {650}
Us Dollar {4) {20}
Euro - {44}
Trade and other payables 13 (565) {714)

The cash and tash equivalents, including short-term depaosits, attract interest rates based on Libor, US Doliar Libor and Euribor for perieds of up
to three months. The carrying value of these assets approximates their fair value.

Exposure to credit risk — Company
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
was:

Carrying amount

2021 2020
£000 £°000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,956 2,166

The Company has no exposure to credit risk for trade receivables. The Company is exposed to credit risk for intercompany receivables. Where it
is likely that intercompany balances will not be repaid, the Company provides for these receivables. The Campany also recognises on expected
credit loss against outstanding intercompany receivable balances at the end of the period. The Company mitigates against credit risk by moving
surplus cash in the subsidiaries in the Company via repayment of intercompany debts.

Liquidity risk ~ Compony
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments:

Carrying Contractual & months

amount cash flows or less

31 December 2021 £'000 £000 £'000
Non-derivative financial liabifities

Trade and other payables {565) {565) (565)

{565) (565) (565)

Carrying  Contractual 6 months

amount cash flows or less

31 December 2020 £'000 £7000 £'000
Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables {714) (714) (714)

{714) (714) {714)

Currency risk — Company
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows, based on national amounts:
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31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Euro Us Dollar Eura Us Dollar
£000 E'000 £'000 £'000
Intercompany receivables 785 660 758 406
intercompany payables - (4) {42) {20)
Gross halance sheet exposure 785 656 756 386

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk relates to intercompany balances with other companies within the Group.

Sensitivity analysis — Company

A 5% strengthening of Sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss
by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The sensitivity assumes
exchange rate effects that are reasonably possibie for the USD and Euro currencies based on recent experience. 2020 sensitivities were prepared
on a 5% currency movement.

Profit
Equity or loss
£'000 £°000
2021
US Dollar {31) {31}
Euro (37) {37}
2020
US Dallar (18) {18)
Euro [36) (36)

A 5% weakening of Sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2021 would have increased/{decreased) equity and profit or loss by
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The sensitivity assumes
exchange rate effects that are reasonably possible for the USD and Euro currencies based on recent experience. 2020 sensitivities were prepared

an a 5% currency movement.

Profit
Equity or loss
£°000 £'000
2021
Us Dalfar 35 35
Euro 41 41
2020
US Dallar 20 20
Euro 40 40
The Company has variable or fixed rate financial assets or financial liabilities.
Fair values versus corrying amounts — Company
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,956 1,956 2,166 2,166
Trade and other receivables 9,031 9,031 5,171 5,171
Trade and other payables {S65) (565) {714) (714)




Management Consulting Group PLC
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
Registered number 01000608

21. Related party transactions

Group

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consalidation. £xcept as disclosed
below and in Note 22, no Group cempany entered into a transaction with a related party that is not a member of the Group. Goods and services
purchased from related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Micholas Stagg, a director of the Company, is an adviser to the Board of Wedlake Bell LLP. No services were provided by Wedlake bell to
Management Consulting Group PLC (2020: £22,000} |-Global, a subsidiary of Wedlake Bell provided services at fair market rates to Alexander
Proudfoot [Europe) Limited vatued at £80,000 (2020: £88,000) and at year end there was no cutstanding liability due to 1-Glebal {2020: £22,000).

Al transactions with pension trustees have been disclosed in note 15.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The aggregate remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below. Key management personnel are the executive
directors.

2021 2020
£000 £'000
Short-term employee benefits 652 682
Post-employment benefits 86 86

738 768
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At 31 December 2021, the Company had the following subsidiary undertakings, with all trading subsidiaries being engaged in the provision of
management consultancy services. The shareholdings were 100% of the subsidiary undertakings’ erdinary shares and were held indirectly except
where indicated. Each of the subsidiaries is included in the consclidation.

Registered address

Countries of
incorporation/
operation

Management Consulting Group Overseas
Limited™}

Proudfoat Trustees Ltd!*]

MCG Campany No 1 Ltd™!

Alexander Proudfoot (Europe) Ltd'™!

Kurt Salmon Associates Ltd

Management Consulting Group Holdings LLC

Alexander Proudfoot Company

Alexander Proudfcot Inc

Alexander Proudfoot GmbH

Alexander Proudfoct GmbH*

Alexander Proudfoot France SAS
Alexander Proudfoct Europe S5A

Alexander Proudfcot SA

MCG Overseas Hoidings BV*
Proudfoot (Netherlands} BV
Alexander Proudfoot lapan K.K
Proudfoot {Malaysia} SDN BHD

Proudfoot {Singapore) Pte

Alexander Proudfoot Consulting {Shanghai}
Limited

Alexander Proudfoot SPA (Chile)

Ap Sucursal del Peru
Proudfoot (de Mexico) SC
Alexander Proudfoot South Africa (Pty) Ltd

Alexander Proudfaot Africa (Pty) Ltgl**!

Alexander Proudfoot Kazakhstan LLP

St Paul's House, 4™ Floor, 10 Warwick Lane, London, EC4M 78P

St Paul's House, 4t Floor, 10 Warwick Lane, London, EC4M 7BP

St Paul’s House, 4t Floor, 10 Warwick Lane, London, EC4M 7BP

5t Paul’s House, 4% Floor, 10 Warwick Lane, London, EC4M 7BP

St Paul's House, 4% Floor, 10 Warwick Lane, London, EC4AM 7BP

& Concourse Parkway, Suite 2650, Atlanta, GA 30328, USA
& Concourse Parkway, Suite 2650, Atlanta, GA 30328, USA

Canada Trust Tower, 161 Bay Street, 27t Floor, PO Box 508,Toronto,
Ontario M5J 251

c/o Regus Businass Centre, An der Welle 4, 60322 Frankfurt am Main
Germany

LandstraBer HauptstraBe 71/2 1030 Wien, Austria

168 Avenue Charles de Gaulle, 92200 Neuilly sur Seine, France
523 Avenue Louise, Brussels 1050, Belgium

Capitan Haya €0, 2nd Floor, 28020 Madrid, $pain
Van der Vaik Boumanlaan 13 |, 3446 GE Woerden, The Netherlands
Van der Vaik Boumanlaan 13 |, 3446 GE Woerden, The Netherlands
Ark Mori Building, 1-12-32 Akasaka, Toyko, Japan

1 Sentral, Level 16, Jalan Stesen Sentral 5, KL Sentral, Kuala Lumpur,
50470, Malaysia

8 Marina Boulevard #05-02, Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 1,
Singapore 018981

Room 808, No.1325 Middle Huai Hai Road, Shanghai, 200031, R.P.C.

Avenida Isidora Goyenechea 3000 #, Piso 24, Las Condes, Santiago CP
755-0098, Chile

Av. Caminec Real 456, Torre Real, Piso 12, San lsidro, Lima 27,
Rio Guadiana No. 11, Cal. Cuauahtémac, 06500 México, D.F.
PO Box 225, Highlands North 2037, Johannesburg,
PO Box 225, Highlands North 2037, Johannesburg,

Floor 3, Block A, Business Centre, 10D Kunaeva Street, Esil District,
Sur-Sultan, Kazakhstan

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United States
United States

Canada

Germany

Austria

France
Belgium

Spain
Netherlands
Nethertands

Japan

Malaysia

Singapore

China

Chile

Peru
Mexico
South Africa

South Africa

Kazakhstan

*  Held directly.

** 49% held by Alexander Proudfoot South Africa (Pty) Ltd.
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The following subsidiaries of the Company are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual

financial statements by virtue of a parental guarantee in accordance with s479A;
Management Consulting Group Overseas Ltd. Company registration number 02170154

MCG Company No 1 lid- Company registration number 04897584

Company
Amounts owed by subsidiory undertokings, These amopunis ore net of impoirment.
2021 2020
receivable/ receivable/
{payable) {payable}
£'000 £'000
Alexander Proudfoot {Europe) Limited 5,122 2,675
MCG Company No. 1 Limited 312 308
Alexander Proudfoot GmbH (Germany) - (1)
Proudfoot Canada 4 -
Alexander Proudfoot Europe SA - (22)
Alexander Proudfoot Company 2,402 1,189
Proudfoot Netherlands BY (4) -
Alexander Proudfoot France SAS (3]
Alexander Proudfoot GmbH {Austria) 5 3
Management Consulting Group Holdings LLC 772 644
Ending balance 8,613 4,793
Transoctions with subsidiary undertakings
2021 2020
expense/ expense/
{income) {income)
£'000 £000
Alexander Proudfoot (Europe} Limited - 104
Alexander Proudfoot Company (1,192) {1,115}
income fraom transactions with subsidiary undertakings {1,192} (1,011}
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Contacts for investors and clients

www.mcgplc.com

Registered office

5t Paul’s House
4% Floor

10 Warwick Lane
London

ECAM 7BP
United Kingdom

Tal: +44 20 7710 5000
Fax: +44 20 7710 5001

Company number
01000608

Registrar

Link Group

10" Flaor

Central Square

29 Wellington Street
Leeds

LS140L

United Kingdom

Company Secretary
Prism CoSec Ltd
London office: +44 20 7710 5000

We encourage sharehalders to register for copies of corporate communications on our investor relations website at www.mcgplc.com.

Investor relations
The Group welcomes contact with its shareholders.

Enquiries should be directed to:

Nick Stagg, Chairman and Chief Executive
Nick.Stagg@mcgplc.com

London office: +44 20 7710 5000

Enquiries and notification cancerning dividends, share certificates or transfers and address changes should be sent to the Registrar at the
address shown.

Operational contacts
We welcome clients introduced by shareholders. Shareholders wishing to provide introductions to potential clients should contact Nick Stagg
{see contact details above).

Shareholder online Services

Signal Shares is a secure online site where you can manage your shareholding quickly and eastly. You can:

View your haolding and get an indicative valuation
Change your address

View your dividend payment history

Register your proxy voting instruction

Download a stock transfer form




Management Consulting Group PLC
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

Registered number 01000608

To register for Signal Shares just visit www.signaishares.com. All you need is yours investor code, which can be found on your share certificate
or your dividend tax voucher.

Should you have any queries please contact Link Group helpline on 0871 664 0300, from overseas on +44 371 664 0300 (calls outside of the UK
will be charged at the applicable international rate). Calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by provider. Calls outside the
United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable international rate. We are open between 09:00 - 17:30, Monday to friday excluding public
holidays in England and Wales. You can also contact the registrar by email at enguiries@linkgroup.co.uk,
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Company advisers

Auditor
BDOLLP

55 Baker Street
tondon

W1U 7EU
United Kingdom

Commercial bankers
HSBC Bank Plc

8 Canada Square
London

E14 5HQ

United Kingdom

Legal advisers

Baker & McKenzie LLP
100 New Bridge Street
London

ECAV 6JA

United Kingdom




